This is the lawsuit filed by Dr. Issam Awad in Denver District Court
on June 17 alleging that four senior neurosurgeons and the chief resident
discriminated against him and harassed him because he is Lebanese.

He claims that University Hospital and the CU School of Medicine allowed
the discrimination to occur. He also claims the peer review conducted into his

care and ethics was corrupt and was abused.
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COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND

Plamtiff Issam A. Awad, M.D., as and for his complaini agains! the Defendants herein,

also stales as follows:



JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This civil action is for declaratory and injunctive relief and for compensatory and punitive
damages to enforee the right of Plaintiff not to be deprived of his property without being
accorded the procedural protections guaranteed by the due process clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment of the Constitution of the United States. This action is to enforce the right of
Plaintiff to be free from arbitrary and capricious treatment and from discrimination on the basis
of his race and national origin while in employment, as graranteed by Title 42 of the United
States Code, Sections 1983, 1985(3), 1986, and the due process and equal protection clauses of
the Fourteenth Amendment. Defendants, and each of them, engaged in a course of conduct
which included subjecting Plaintiff to national origin and racial slurs, national origin and racial
Jokes, offensive comments, insults, disparate treatment, and deprivation of job responsibility in
his employment because of Plaintiff’s national origin and race.

2. This action also involves common law state claims such as breach of contract, slander,
mtentional infliction of emotional distress, and interference with contractual relations.

3. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Colo. Const. Art. VI, § 9 and 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983,
1985(3), and 1986.

4, Venue is proper pursuant to C.R.C.P. 98(c). This is the judicial district in which some of
the defendants reside and in which the contractual services were to be performed.

PARTIES
5. Plaintiff, Issam A. Awad, M.D., is a citizen of the state of Colorado, whose nation of

origin is Lebanon, ancestry is Lebanese, and whose race is Arab in the sense in which race is
nsed in 42 U.S.C. § 1981,

6. Defendant University of Colorado (the “University”) is a Colorado institution of higher
learning with a Department of Neurosurgery within its School of Medicine located at the

University of Colorado Health Sciences Center (“‘UCHSC™), 4200 East Ninth Avenue in the City
and County of Denver, Colorado.

7. Defendant University Hospital, aka University of Colorado Hospital Authority (the
“Colorado Hospital”) is a body corporate and political subdivision of the state created by C.R.S.
§ 23-21-501, et al, located at UCHSC, 4200 East Ninth Avenue in the City and County of
Denver, Colorade. At all times relevant to this Complaint, the Colorado Hospital was engaged in
the operation of a public hospital for purposes of C.R.S. § 24-10-106(1 }(b), thus waiving any
right it might have to assert sovereign immunity. '



8. Defendant Denris Brimhall (“Brimhall”) is a citizen of the state of Colorado and
President of Colorado Hospital.

9. Defendant James Shore, M.D. (“Shore™) is a citizen of the state of Colorado and
Chairman of the Board of Directors for Colorado Hospital.

10.  Defendant Richard Krugman, M.D. (“Krugman”) is a citizen of the state of Colorado and
Dean of the University of Colorado School of Medicine.

11,  Deiendant Robert Breeze, M.D. (“Breeze”) is a citizen of the state of Colorado, professor
of neurosurgery at the University, and medical practitioner at the Colorado Hospital.

12. Defendant Glenn Kindt, M.D. (*Kindt™) is a citizen of the state of Colorado, professor of
neurcsurgery at the University, and medical practitioner at the Colorado Hospital.

13, Defendant Kevin Liliehei, M.D. (“Lillechei”) is a citizen of the state of Colorado,
professor of nevrosurgery at the University, and medical practitioner at the Colorado Hospital.

14, Defendant Kenneth Winston, M.D. (“Winston™) is a citizen of the state of Colorado,
professor of neurosurgery at the University, and medical practitioner at the Colorado Hospital.

15.  Defendant Sean Markey, M.D. (“Markey”) is a citizen of the state of Colorado and Chief
Resident medical practitioner at the Colorado Hospital.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

16.  Atall times herein mentioned, Plaintiff was an employee protected against discrimination
in employment on the basis of national origin and race, in that Plaintiff was a member of a
protected and recognized national origin minority group or category and identifiable race.

17. In June 2000, a Search Committee of the University of Colorado Schoo! of Medicine
selected Plaintiff Issam A. Awad, M.D., Plaintiff herein, as Chairman-Designee of the
Department of Neurosurgery at the University of Colorado School of Medicine.

18.  Prior to his arrival at the University of Colorado Schoo! of Medicine and Colorado
Hospital, Dr. Awad enjoyed an unblemished reputation as one of the best vascular neurosurgeons
in the world. Dr. Awad had done pioneering work in complex vascular neurosurgery at the
Cleveland Clinic and at Yale University Hospital, and a principal reason he was recruited to lead
the Department of Neurosurgery at the University of Colorado School of Medicine was because
of hits preeminence and skill in the operating room,



19.  Before Dr. Awad had even accepted the position as Chairman-Designee, and
notwithstanding Dr. Awad’s preeminent clinical credentials and unblemished record of clinical
excellence at the Cleveland Clinic and Yale University, a hostile faction of local faculty in the
Department of Neurosurgery at the University of Colorado School of Medicine, namely,
Defendants Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, and Winston, together with others presently unknown to
Plaintiff, commenced concerted action to undermine and intentionally tortiously interfere with
Dr. Awad’s engagement as Chairman-Designee of the Department of Neurosurgery and to
undermine and tortiously interfere with his impending contract and position with the University
of Colorado.

20. Starting in June 2000 and throughout the summer of 2000, Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei and
Winston made slanderous accusations against Dr. Awad’s character and competence to Search
Commuitiee Chair Kenneth Tvler, other members of the Search Committee and to the Dean of the
School of Medicine. The same slanderous charges were made in a public meeting of the faculty
with Dean Krugman in June 2000, Each of the accusations were carefully investigated by the
Dean and the Search Commuttee, and found to be unsubstantiated.

21, Defendants Breeze, Lillehei and Winston, each formal candidates who coveted the
chairmanship position and who were competing with Dr. Awad for the chairmanship position,
next filed a formal challenge of the integrity of the search in July 2000, and made direct appeals
to one or more University of Colorado Regents and other officials during the summer of 2000 in
attempts to overturm Dr. Awad’s appointment. Their accusations were formally investigated by
Defendant Shore, and found to be without basis.

22, Defendants Breeze, Lillehei, Kindt and Winston made personal derogatory accusations
about Dr, Awad’s character to the Chairman of the Department of Neurclogy, Dr. Donald Gilden,
during the summer of 2000, urging him to prevent or overturn Awad’s appointment. Defendants
Lillehei and Winston refused to meet with Dr. Awad during the summer and fall of 2000 despite
Dr. Awad’s repeated requests of them for the purpose of coordinating transition and strategic
planning. Breeze and Kindt met with Dr. Awad during his transition visits in the summer and fali

of 2000, but continued to conspire to undermine him to other faculty, staft and neurosurgeons in
the community. '

23.  Inthe face of these and other hostile actions by this group of professors, Dr. Awad was
nevertheless induced to leave his then tenured and endowed position at Yale University Medical
School and to move with his wife and minor son to Denver by the explicit promises and
contractual undertakings by the University of Colorado School of Medicine. Dean Richard
Krugman explicitly assured and promised Dr. Awad that the Unmiversity of Colorado
Admimstration would deal decisively with the hostile actions of this group of professors.



24.  Dean Krugman further assured Dr. Awad that as Dean of the Medical School, he and the
Medical School would provide all necessary assistance to Dr. Awad to execute a shared vision
for the future of the Department of Neurosurgery. Dr. Awad was advised that this vision for the
Department of Neurosurgery, shared by Dean Krugman, Dr. Awad, and Dennis Brimhall,
President of Colorado Hospital, was to leverage Dr. Awad’s national reputation and nationally
recognized skill as a vascular neurosurgeon to transform the Department of Neurosurgery and
University Hospital from a regional facility into a nationally recognized center for neurosurgery.

25.  Dr. Awad relied upon the above-described assurances and promises when he Jeft his
tenured and endowed position at Yale University Medical School and accepted the position as
Chairman of the Department of Neurosurgery at the Untiversity of Colorado School of Medicine.

26.  On September 19, 2000, an offer of employment letter was tendered to Dr. Awad,
executed both by Defendant Krugman, Dean of University of Colorado School of Medicine, and
by Defendant Shore, Chairman of the Board of Directors for Colorado Hospital. Dr. Awad
signed and accepted this offer of employment on September 19, 2000. The contract provided,
inter alia, that Dr. Awad’s appointment as Chair of the Department of Neurosurgery at the
University would become effective January 1, 2001.

27.  The said letter offering employment made reference to a contemporaneous letter
discussing commitments of the University and the Colorado Hospital to the development of the
Department of Neurosurgery. The contemporaneous letter is executed both by Defendant
Krugman and Defendant Brimhall.

28.  Notwithstanding the original promises 1o deal decistvely with the hostile actions of
Breeze, Kindt, Lilichei and Winston, and repeated promises and assurances made by Umiversity
administrators thereafter, Breeze, Kindt, Lillehet, and Winston continued to engage 1n a pattern
of racial discrimination, defamation, hostility, and abuse of faculty status and privileges against
Dr. Awad, and University administrators utterly failed and refused to take reasonable or effective
steps to halt this intentional, illegal and abusive conduct.

29. At ameeting of the American Academy of Neurological Surgeons in Colorade Springs in
October 2000, Dr. Awad requested to sit with Dr. Glenn Kindt and his wife Charlotte, as a
gesture of respect. Mrs. Kindt refused to speak with Dr. Awad, got up and left the table to sit
elsewhere. Dr. Kindt stated to Dr. Awad after she left that “famnilies in Colorade don’t easily
accepl strangers,” and that “his wife was too old to change.”

30.  Breeze, Lillehei and Winston refused to attend receptions for Dr. Awad held by
Defendant Krugman in August 2000 for the University faculty, and by Dr. Michael Handler at his
home in September 2000 for the Department and community neurosurgeons. These three



defendants also refused to attend a special presentation by Dr. Awad in August 2000 to the
Depariment faculty and staff on strategic vision for the future of the Department.

31. Breeze, Kindt, Lillehel, and Winston did not invite Dr. Awad to the Department’s
Holiday party in December 2000, and all four and their staff boycotted the Departments of
Neurosurgery and Neurology’s Holiday party hosted by Drs. Awad and Gilden in December 2001

32.  Drs. Breeze, Kindt and Lillehet boycotted a special reception hosted by Dr. Awad as
President of the Congress of Neurological Surgeons at its Annual Meeting presided over by Dr.
Awad in September 2001, Defendants Breeze, Kindt, Lillehes, and Winston boycotted receptions
held at Dr. Awad’s home in honor of visiting professors on no less than six occasions between
April 2001 and November 2002.

33.  Commencing in approximately January, 2001, Markey joined with Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei
and Winston in the intentional, harassing and conspiratorial conduct against Dr. Awad. Markey
repeatedly demeaned and harassed one junior housestaff, born in Lebanon as was Dr. Awad, and
two other junior housestaff, both persons of color, each of whom were supportive of Dr. Awad.
These two junior housestaff persons filed complaints with the University’s Diversily Office about
their treatment by Dr. Markey. One of the three left the University in mid-year because of this
discrimination and another has made arrangements to transfer to another training program in June
2003. Upon learning that these junior housestaff members had been assisted in filing thetr
complaints of racial discrimination and hostility by Dr. Awad, Defendant Krugman expressed his
displeasure to Dr. Awad for his having assisted them.

34, Plaintiff subjectively believed that the conduct of Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston, and
Markey described herein was so severe that it created an abusive or racially hostile work
environment, and the conduct of Breeze, Kindt, Liliehel, Winston, and Markey i fact was so
severe that a reasonable person would find the work environment hostile or abusive.

35. Dr. Kindt, acting in concert with Breeze, Liliehet, and Winston, and at least by January,
2001 if not earlier also acting in concert with Markey, on numerous occasions made racial, ethnic
and national origin insults to Dr. Awad, who was born in Lebanon.

36.  Kindt told Dr. Awad in a telephone conversation in June 2000 that “people itke him
would not be welcome in Colorado,” and that he and his family would not be “safe™ here. Dr.
Awad promptly notified Drs, Tyler (Search Committee Chair) and Krugman of this statement,
but no administrative action was taken against Kindt, instead, Dr. Awad was merely told by
Krugman that he felt that Kindt would eventually “come around.” Drs. Awad, Tyler and
Krugman discussed “racially motivated hate” as the only potential explanation for such drastic
hostility before Dr. Awad even had the chance to meet or work with Kindt and the others.
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37.  Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei and Winston told neurosurgeons in the community in September
2000 that Dr. Awad should not act so self-confident, and that he would soon regret it because of
what they had in mind for him. This was documented and reported to Defendant Krugman. No
corrective action was taken,

38.  Defendant Denmis Brimhall, President of Colorado Hospital, told Dr. Awad during an
interview in May 2000 that he would “find thriving Mosques in Denver.” Dr. Awad corrected
him, informing Brimhall that he was in fact Christian and would not require a mosque.

39.  Dr. Kindt was heard telling a female resident in the fall of 2000 that she would not have
10 worry about Dr Awad, the chairman designee, since he would not make her wear a veil.

40.  Inapproximately June, 2001, Kindt approached Dr. Alain de Lotbinere, a former
colleague of Dr. Awad’s at Yale University, while de Lotbmiere was at a dinner reception as a
recruitment candidate and told him that .. things were going to blow up here” and that it was
not a good idea for him to come to Colorado. It was apparent to Kindt and to Breeze, Lillehei
and Winston that de Lotbiniere might become allied with Dr. Awad if he came to Colorado
because he was a colleague of Dr. Awad’s at Yale and 1t was Dr. Awad who had sought his
recruitment.

41. Kindt referred to Dr. Awad m the fall of 2001 as “Dr Assad,” in reference to an Arab.
dictator.

42. Kindt, Breeze, Lillehei, Winston and Markey tried in February 2002 to withdraw a
contract offer accepting Dr. Jabbour (another native Lebanese) in the formal residency program.
Dr. Jabbour was supportive of Dr. Awad.

43. Continuing their intentional, illegal and concerted action, Drs. Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei,
Winston, and Markey repeatedly made defamatory and inflammatory accusations against Dr.
Awad. Allegations were made by Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston, and Markey to the search
committee and others that Dr. Awad had mistreated residents at Yale, particularly female
trainees. Markey falsely alleged to the chairman of the Search Committee in May, 2000 that Dr.
Awad was preventing Colorado residents from contacting Yale residents to check on Dr. Awad,
despite the fact that Dr. Awad had specifically facilitated such contacts. This defamatory
allegation was repeated by Markey, purportedly on behalf of the residents, in correspondence to
President Hoffiman in March, 2002, even after references and contacts with Yale residents had
proven the allegations to be unsubstantiated.

44,  Allegations were made by Breeze, Kindt, Lillehel, Winston and by Markey that Dr. Awad
was misleading patients and families in clinical decisions, none of which could be substantiated
at any time.



45.  Several specific defamatory and inflammatory allegations were made by Markey and
others through the Housestaff Association in a formal letter to University President Hoffmann in
March 2001. All aliegations were found by the administration to be unsubstantiated in a fact-
finding investigation, yet no corrective action was taken.

46.  False accusations of administrative abuse, attacking Dr. Awad’s leadership of the
Department of Neurosurgery, were brought by Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei and Winston to Defendant
Chancellor Shore through an attormey in the spring of 2002 who demanded Dr. Awad’s removal
as Chair of Neurosurgery, and later repeated by them and by Markey to Linda Siderius during a
fact-finding investigation. The allegations of administrative abuse were thoroughly investigated
and were found 1o be unsubstantiated in the administration’s fact-finding investigation. Despite
announcement of the findings of this fact finding investigation by independent counsel Linda
Siderus in formal meetings of the Dean and Chancellor Shore with the faculty and residents in
July 2002, Drs. Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston, and Markey refused to accept those findings,
and they repeated the same defamatory charges during the summer of 2002. Dr. Breeze
specifically told Defendant Krugman and Defendant Chancellor Shore in the presence of other
faculty that “Dr. Awad was incompetent,” left the room and stammed the door during the
meeting in which the faculty was being informed that the fact-finding investigation had failed to

substantiate any of the defamatory allegations against Dr. Awad’s lcadership of the Department
of Neurosurgery.

47, Markey, then chief neurosurgical resident, acting in concert with Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei
and Winston, spearheaded a campaign of intimidation and harassment against nurses and
residents favorable to Dr. Awad during the summer and fall of 2001, specifically targeting parties
who did not agree with his repeated intentional disparagement and slander of Dr. Awad’s clinical
ompetence on daily rounds. Parties who complained about this harassment included Physician
'(;351 stant Yvonne Atkins, Nurse Keith Lepsch, and residents Jabbour, Qureshl and Sarin. Atkins
‘ apd Qureshi have since left the institution indicating that their departure was in large part because
of this harassment by Markey. Stiil, no corrective action was taken.

48. Breeze, Kindt, Lillchei and Winston, and Markey repeatedly intentionaily and falsely
stated that Dr. Awad had caused harm to patients when the patients had made excellent
recoveries or when they had suffered unpreventable complications related to their illness, These
defamatory stalements were made in the presence of residents, nurses and other faculty in June
2002, and repeated other instances.

49.  Breeze led a campaign to undermine Dr, Awad’s role as depariment chairman in
comjunction with the promotion of junior faculty member, Dr. Kerry Brega, in the spring of 2001.
Breeze intentionally misrepresented Dr. Awad’s support for Dr. Brega’s promotion, and Breeze

even intentionally falsified her dessier by removing and substituting letters of reference.
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50.  Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei and Winston and Markey incited other housestaff to undermine
accreditation reviews by the RRC in November 2001 and again in November 2002 with the
specific aim of discrediting Dr. Awad as program director and chairman and causing his removal
as chairman. This included concerted efforts before and during the accreditation visits and even
by direct communications with the RRC outside the formal process, even as internal reviews and
other administrative processes were underway to try to preserve program accreditation, Despite
being reported to administration, no corrective action was taken.

51.  Dr. Lillelhei falsely incited residenis to claim that Dr. Awad had intimidated them afier
the first RRC review in November 2001. Kindt was documented to have falsely incited residents

in the spring of 2002 to abandon one of the program training sites in an effort to discredit Dr.
Awad.

52.  Lillehei specifically incited residents in January 2002 to disobey Dr. Awad’s directives on
clinical documentation in the neurosurgical intensive care unit.

53.  Kindt and Lillelhei made defamatory remarks about Dr. Awad’s clinical skills in the
spring of 2002 to referring physicians from Kaiser group who worked closely with Dr. Awad,

54. Winston falsely stated to a Residency Review Committee reviewer during an
accreditation visit in November 2002 that Dr Awad was preventing senior faculty from meeting
with the reviewer.

PARAGRAPHS 55 THROUGH 86 ARE SUBMITTED UNDER SEAL
PURSUANT TO THE COURT’S ORDER LIMITING ACCESS TO THE COURT FILE
AND ARE INCORPORATED HEREIN BY THIS REFERENCE

87. Despite repeated complaints by Dr. Awad to the administration of the Untversity
of Colorado School of Medicine, and despite repeated assurances and promises by the
administration of the University of Colorado School of Medicine that this lengthy series of
intentional, unprofessional, harassing and intimidating acts, virtually all of which occurred
during work hours and at the place of employment of all parties, would be sternly dealt with by
the administration of the University of Colorado School of Medicine, The University of Colorado
School of Medicine and the University Hospital failed 1o respond. No corrective action or
administrative sanction aganst Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston, or Markey was ever taken, or
any private action taken was utterly inadequate to achieve any change. By virtue of this chronic
refusal to take effective administrative action, Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston, and Markey
were aided and encouraged by the administrative neglect, they were emboldened, and they
continued their attacks on Dr. Awad with impunity. This two and one-half year campaign of
hostility, slander, false accusations and personal and national origin-based attacks has occurred,
essentially continuously, for a two and one-half year period, from a point in time even before Dr.
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Awad assumed his positions with the University of Colorado School of Medicine and University
Hospital untif the present. That conduct, and the administrative inaction which nourished and
even emboldened it, has caused substantial damages to Dr. Awad.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Racial and National Origin Discrimination in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 — Against
Each Defendant)

88.  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference all previous allegations as if fully set forth herein.

89. Defendants Krugman, Brimhall, Shore, Brecze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston, and Markey in
their individual capacities, both in the exercise of their official duties and outside of their official
duties, have subjected Plaintiff to the deprivation of his rights under the 14™ Amendment of the
Constitution. These Defendants, because of Plamtift’s race and national origin, have treated him
differently causing Plaintiff to suffer a disparate impact in the form of a hostile work
environment.

90.  Defendants University and Colorado Hospita) have subjected Plaintiff to the deprivation
of his rights under the 14™ Amendment of the Constitution. These Defendants, because of
Plaintiff’s race and national origin, have treated him differently, causing Plaintiff to suffer a
disparate impact in the form of a hostile work environment and ultimately costing Dr. Awad his
position as Chair of the Department of Neurosurgery.

91 Defendants’ conduct was undertaken under color of state law and operated to deprive
Plaintiff of a federal right.

92.  Defendants’ conduct violating 42 U.S.C. § 1983 has caused non-economic losses or
injuries to Plaintiff including damage to Plaintiff’s reputation, pain, suffering, emotional stress,
fear, anxiety, embarrassment, humiliation, together with economic losses, including loss of
earnings and income, and loss of future earning capacity.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Depnvation of professional reputation in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 — Against Each
Defendant)

93.  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference all previous allegations as if fully set forth herein.

94.  Delendants have infringed on Dr. Awad’s liberty interest in his professional reputation
and ability to obtain future employment.
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95.  Defendants Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston and Markey have intentionally published
false statements which injured Plaintiff’s good name, reputation, honor, and dignity and caused
adverse actions, including the summary suspension of hospital privileges at Colorado Hospital, to
be taken against Dr. Awad. Ultimately, the actions of these Defendants cost Dr. Awad his
position as Chair of the Department of Neurosurgery.

96, Defendants Krugman, Brimhall, and Shore, in their individual capacities, both in the
exercise of their official duties and outside of their official duties, have implemented and
endorsed administrative procedures which without due process have caused false statements to
be published which have imjured Plaintiff’s good name, reputation, honor, and dignity in
connection with adverse actions which were taken against Dr. Awad. Ultimately, the actions
and/or inactions of these Defendants cost Dr. Awad his posilion as Chair of the Department of
Neurosurgery.

97.  Defendants University and Colorado Hospital have implemented and endorsed
administrative procedures which without due process have caused false statements to be
published which have injured Plaintiff’s good name, reputation, honor, and dignity in connection
with adverse actions which were taken against Dr. Awad. Ultimately, the actions and/or
inactions of these Defendants cost Dr. Awad his position as Chair of the Department of
Neurcsurgery.

98.  Defendants’ conduct was undertaken under color of state law and operated to deprive
Plaintiff of a federal right.

99.  Defendants’ conduct violating 42 U.S.C. § 1983 has caused non-economic losses or
injuries to Plaintiff including damage to Plaintiff’s reputation, pain, suffering, emotional stress,
fear, anxiety, embarrassment, humiliation, together with economic losses, including loss of
earnings and income, and loss of future earning capacity,

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Conspiracy to deprive another of equal protection of the taws in violation of 42 U.S.C. §
1985(3) ~ Against Defendants Breeze, Kindt, Lilleher, Winston, and Markey)

100.  Plaintiff incorporatcs by this reference all previous allegations as tf fully set forth herein.

101. Defendants Breeze, Kindt, Lillehel, Winston, and Markey, motivated by a class-based,
invidiously discriminatory animus aiming to deprive Plaintiff of the equal enjoyment of rights
secured by the law to all, have intentionally conspired to cause damage to Plainfiff’s good name,
reputation, honor, and dignity. In so doing, these Defendants caused adverse actions and the loss
of his position as Chairman of the Department of Neurosurgery, to be taken against Dr. Awad.
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102. Defendants’ conduct violating 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) has caused non-economic losses or
injuries to Plaintiff including damage to Plaintiff’s reputation, pain, suffering, emotional stress,
fear, anxiety, embarrassment, humiliation, together with economic losses, including loss of
carnings and income, and loss of future earning capacity.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
{(Negligent Failure to Prevent a Section 1985 Conspiracy 1n violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1986 -
Against Defendants Krugman, Brimhall, and Shore)

103.  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference all previous allegations as if fully set forth herein.

104. Defendants Krugman, Brimhall, and Shore had knowledge that Defendanis Breeze,
Kindt, Lillehel, Winston, and Markey, motivated by a class-based, invidiously discriminatory
animus were atming to deprive Plaintiff of the equal enjoyment of rights secured by the Iaw to all
and yet each of them personally, both in the exercise of their official duties and outside of their
official duties, negligently failed and/or refused to prevent the conspiracy from causing damage
to Plaintiff’s good name, reputation, honor, and dignity.

105. Defendants Krugman, Brimhail, and Shore had the power to prevent and by reasonable
ditigence could have prevented the damage caused to Plaintiff’s good name, reputation, honor,
and dignity by the conspiracy of Defendants Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston, and Markey.

106. Defendants’ conduct violating 42 U.S.C. § 1986 has caused non-economic losses or
injuries to Plaintiff including damage to Plaintiff’s reputation, pain, suffering, emotional stress,
fear, anxiety, embarrassment, humiliation, together with economic losses, including loss of
eamings and income, and Joss of future earning capacity.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
{Breach of Coniract — Against the University and Colorado Hospital)

107.  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference alf previous allegations as if fully set forth herein.

108.  Defendant University and Defendant Colorado Hospital entered into a contract with
Plaintiff to employ Plaintiff as Chairman of the Department of Neurosurgery at the University of
Colorado School of Medicine, as a tenured professor at the University of Colorado School of
Medicine, and as a chaired professor at the University of Colerado School of Medicine. The
express terms of employment specifically included the assurances, promises and contractual
undertakings described elsewhere herein, and expressly or impliedly included the provision that
Dr. Awad’s employment and clinical practice would be in accordance with the By-Laws of
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Colorado Hospital and administrative regulations, policies, practices and procedures of both the
Colorado Hospital and the University.

109. Defendant University and Defendant Colorado Hospital breached their contract with
Plaintiff by failing and refusing to deal decisively with the hostile actions of Defendants Breeze,
Kindt, Lillehei, Winston, and Markey, failed (despite repeated assurances) to eliminate the
pattern of intentional discrimination, hostility and abuse of faculty status and privileges of
Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston, and Markey, and, by their admimstrative inaction and failure
and refusal to act, emboldened Defendants Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston, and Markey and
incited them to continue their intentional attacks on Plaintiff with impunity.

110.  Plaintiff incurred economic and non-economic damages which were a natural and
probable consequence of the breach, as described elsewhere herein, and, at the time the parties
entered into the contract, Defendants reasonably knew, reasonably could have anticipated from
the facts and circumstances, or should have known that these damages would probably be
incurred by Plaintiff if Defendants breached the contract with plaintiff.

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Slander — Against Defendants Breeze, Kindt, Lilleher , Winston, and Markey)

111,  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference all previous allegations as if fully set forth herem.

112. Defendants Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston, and Markey each published the statements
described elsewhere herein in the words stated or in substantially similar words.

113.  The statements made by each respective Defendant caused actual damage to Plamtiff.

114. The substance or gist of each respective statement was false and defamatory at the time it
was published.

115. At the time of each respective publication, Defendants each knew the statements they
were making were false, or were made by each Defendant with reckless disregard as to whether
each respective statement was false.

116. On information and belief, Plainti{f alleges that repetition of numerous defamatory
statements was made by each Defendant, and further, was made by third persons. Each such
repetition by third persons was a natural consequence of each Defendant’s original or subsequent
publication, or, in one or more instances, Defendants expressly or impliedly authorized repetition
of a defamatory statement.




117.  Defendants’ defamation of Plaintiff caused non-economic losses or injuries to Plaintiff
including damage to Plaintiff’s reputation, pain, suffering, emotional stress, fear, anxiety,
embarrassment, humiliation, together with economic losses, including loss of earnings and
income, and loss of future earning capacity.

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress/ Extreme and Qutrageous Conduct — Against
Defendants Breeze, Kindt, Lilichei ,Winston and Markey)

118.  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference all previous allegations as if fully set forth herein,

119. Defendants’ conduct, in each instance described with particularity elsewhere herein,
constitutes extreme and outrageous conduct.

120. Each Defendant, in each instance, engaged in extreme and cutrageous conduct recklessly,
or with the intent of causing Plaintiff severe emotional distress.

121.  The conduct of each Defendant in fact did cause Plaintiff severe emotional distress, pain,
suffering, fear, anxiety, embarrassment, humiliation, together with economic Josses, including
loss of earnings and income, and loss of future eaming capacity.

EiGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
{(Intentional Interference with Contractual Relations — Against Defendants Breeze, Kindt,
Lillehei, Winston and Markey)

122.  Plamtiff incorporates by this reference all previous allegations as if fully set forth herein.
123.  Plaintiff had contracts with both the University and Colorado Hospital.

124,  Defendants Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston and Markey also incited resident trainees as
detailed elsewhere 1o slander the educational program for the expressed purpose of impugning

Dr. Awad and interfering with his contractual responsibilities as chairman and residency program
director.

125.  The actions of Defendants Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston and Markey intentionally
undermined Dr. Awad’s academic stature and credibility. Their actions even included
falsification of academic records and making knowingly false administrative allcgations to
interfere with Dr. Awad’s contract as academic program chair with the University.

126.  The actions of Defendants Breeze, Kindl, Lillehei, Winston and Markey in fact did
undermine Dr. Awad’s clinical stature and credibility through their false clinical and other
allegations detailed elsewhere herein. Each act was done with the aim of intentionally interfering
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with his contract as clinical program director and even as an accredited clinician at the Colorado
Hospital.

127. Each interference by each Defendant was made with the knowledge that interference with
a contraclual relations that Plaintiff had was certain or substantially certain to occur.

128. Each Defendant, by words or conduct, or both, intenticnally interfered with plaintiff’s job
performance, intentionally interfered with the University’s performance of this contract, and
thereby caused the termination of the contract between Plainiiff and the University as Chair of
the Department of Neurosurgery at the University of Colorado School of Medicine.

129. Each Defendant’s interference was improper, including disregard of formal processes at
the university and hospital, refusal to accept findings of formal investigations, and
insubordination through faisification of academic records and disparagement of training program
to accrediting bodies outside formal university processes.

130. Each Defendant’s interference with the said contract caused the Plaintiif damages.

131.  Each interference constituted intentional conduct which made the performance of the
contract between Plaintiff and the University of Colorado more difficult or impossible, with
resulting damages, including severe emotionat distress, pain, suffering, fear, anxiety,
embarrassment, humiliation, together with economic losses, including loss of earnings and
income, and loss of future earning capacity.

JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY, AS TO DEFENDANTS BREEZE, KINDT,
LILLEHEL WINSTON, AND MARKEY

132.  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference all previous allegations as if fully set forth herein.

133. Defendants Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston, Markey, and others presently unknown,
consciously conspired and deliberately pursued a commeon plan or design to commit one or more
tortuous acts against Plaintiff herein. Pursuant to the provisions of CRS §13-21-111.5,
Defendants Breeze, Kindt, Lillehei, Winston and Markey are jointly and severally liable for the
conduct of each other and the conduct of others acting in concert therewith,

PUNITIVE DAMAGES
134.  Plaintiff incorporates by this reference all previous allegations as if fully set forth herem.

135. Defendants each acted with 2 wanton and reckless disregard for the rights and feelings of
Plaintiff, which conduct supports an award of exemplary damages.
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PRAYER

WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays for the entry of judgment against Defendants jointly and
severally for compensatory damages in an amount as proved at trial; for an award of punitive
damages against the defendants named herein; for all appropriate litigation filing fees, witness
fees and other litigation costs in accordance with Colorado and federal law; for plaintiff’s
attorney’s fees for this action in accordance with 42 U.S.C. § 1988; for an order declaring that the
defendants have acted in violation of the United States Constitution; for an order enjoining
defendants from engaging in any of the unlawful acts, omissions, or practices complained of
herein, and such other and further relief as the court deems just and proper.
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JURY DEMAND

PLAINTIFF HEREBY DEMANDS TRIAL TO A JURY
ON ALL ISSUES SO TRIABLE.

Respectfully submitted,

By Al o ﬁ:

William R. Gray

o Fud It~

Paul F. Hultln

Attorneys for Plaintiff

Address of Plaintiff:
46 Sedgwick Drive
Cherry Hills Village, Colorado 80110

337026v]
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Awad Issam

M e ]

From: Richard.Krugman@uchsc.edu

Reply To: Richard.Krugman@uchsc.edu

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2003 11:01 AM

To: Multipte recipients of list ACADEMIC-ANNOUNCEMENTS

Subject: Department of Neurosurgery

University of Colorado School of Medicine
Office of the Dean

February 24, 2003

Dr. Issam A. Awad, Chairman of the Department of Neurosurgery, has resigned his position as Chairman of
the Department. It is with deep regret and understanding that I accept his resignation. This loss wilk be deeply
felt by the leadership of the School of Medicine.

Since his recruitment to Colorado from Yate University in January 2001, Professor Awad has spearheaded an
ambitious effort to develop specialty programs and launch neurosurgical research programs at the Health
Sciences Center and affiliated institutions. He has recruited several superb junior faculty who have the potential
for outstanding academic careers. Dr. Awad has developed novel and successful multidisciplinary
collaborations with a number of clinical and basic science departments, and he bolstered educational and
clinical initiatives with community nenrosurgeons in Colorado and the Rocky Mountain Region.

A faction of faculty in the Department of Neurosurgery opposed Dr. Awad’s appointment as Chair. This
opposition continued during Dr. Awad’s Chairmanship, which resulted in a nearly unmanageable academic
environment. The lack of civility that has occurred within the Department of Neurosurgery is antithetical to
robust academic and clinical programs.

In the context of this difficult environment, during the past year, the University of Colorado Hospital received
allegations from this faction of faculty that Dr. Awad’s clinical care was substandard in some respects. These
allegations were thoroughly investigated by the Hospital and Dr. Awad was completely exonerated by the
Hospital. Dr. Awad has full clinical privileges at the University of Colorado Hospital and intends to maintain
his active clinical practice there and at our other affiliated hospitals.

Professor Awad will remain a tenured and endowed professor of Neurosurgery, Neurology and Pathology.

We hope he will work in the coming months with colleagues in clinical and basic science departments who are
interested in neuroscience to develop a plan for a research program in Integrative Neurosciences. We wish him
success and fruitful contributions in fature clinical and research endeavors.

I have asked Gary Vander Ark, MD to serve as Director of the Neurosurgery Restdency Program and Fred
Grover, M.D., Chairman of the Department of Surgery, to also serve as the Interim Chair of Neurosurgery
while I consider the future status of the Department of Neurosurgery.

Richard D. Krugman, MD
Dean, School of Medicine
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